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5 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
6 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
7
8 | COMUNITY COLLECTORS LLC,et al, No. C-11-4777 EMC
9 Plaintiffs,
RELATED TO
10 V.
E 11 | MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC No. C-12-0771 EMC
8 o REGISTRATION SERVICES, INCet al,
IS 12
G 2 Defendants.
= O 13 /
» 2 ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT
o & 14 || COMUNITY COLLECTORS LLC.et al, OSEBERG’S MOTION TO DISMISS
o 2 FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER
[ 15 Plaintiffs, JURISDICTION
© 5
Nz 16 V. (Docket Nos. 55, 59, 62, 64, 66, 73, 111)
E g 17 || THE BANK OF NEW YORK,et al,
:C) 18 Defendants. /
19
20 . INTRODUCTION
21 Plaintiffs ComUnity Collectors LLC (“Collectors”), Gwendolynn J. Tyler 2006 Living Tru
22 || (“*GTrust”), and Darryl Fry have filed suit aget Defendants Mortgage Electronic Registration
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Services ("MERS”), Terwin Advisors L.L.C. (“Terwin Advisors” or “Winter Group”), Dewey &
LeBoeuf L.L.P. (“Dewey”), Christopher DiAngel Roxana Bargoz, The Bank of New York Mellg
(“BNYM” or “Bank of New York”), Wilmington Trust Company (“Wilmington”), Specialized Log

Servicing L.L.C. (*SLS”), Deutsche Bank AGna@ Oseberg Asset Management LLC (“Oseberg”).

Compl., Docket No. 1. Plaintiffs allege causes of action for fraud, breach of fiduciary duty,

conspiracy, and breach of the bankruptcy automatic stay against Defendants, arising out of g
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disputed transaction between the parties to create a mortgage asset-backed security called t

Terwin Micro Asset-Backed Security, Series 2007 ComUnityl (“Security” or “Micro 1”). Compl.

2. Pending before the Court are Defendants’ motions to digmiss.

After considering the parties’ submissions and oral argument, and for the reasons set
below, the CourGRANTS Defendant Oseberg’s motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction. Because the Court lacks jurisdiction, it may not exercise supplemental jurisdictio
consider the merits of any additional motiondd®fendants concerning Plaintiffs’ state law clain
Herman Family Revocable Trust v. Teddy Be&4 F.3d 802, 806 (9th Cir. 2001). In addition,

because Plaintiff concedes that his second-filed related aCionlJnity v. Bank of New YqrkC-

12-771 EMC, is merely a duplicate of the first-filed acteeNo. 12-771 EMC, Docket No. 13, af

3, the CourDISMISSES that action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction as wéllams v.
California Dept. of Health Serviced487 F.3d 684, 688 (9th Cir. 2007) (“[T]he district court may
exercise its discretion to dismiss a duplicative later-filed action, to stay that action pending
resolution of the previously filed action, to enjoin the parties from proceeding with it, or to
consolidate both actions.”).

. EFACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege as follows. Plaintiff Darryl Fry is a prepetition creditg
ComuUnity Lending, Inc. (“CLI"), and CLI's sole shareholder. Compl. 1. CLI was a mortgag
lender and bank, which was in the business of originating mortgage loans and then selling th
investors.|d. { 14-15. CLI did not hold the mortgages and service them; rather, it funded an
them. Id. 1 15. CLI declared bankruptcy on January 4, 2008 26. Plaintiff Collectors is the
successor in interest to CLI pursuant to a bankruptcy trustee sale assigning CLI's interests rq
the Micro 1 SecurityId. § 2. Plaintiff GTrust is a living trust which purchased a Class B-1 inte
in the Micro 1 Security for $1.25 millionid. § 19.

! Multiple Defendants filed motions to dismiss in this action under various legal theorig
including lack of subject matter jurisdiction, lackpgrsonal jurisdiction, and failure to state a cl3
upon which relief can be grante8eeDocket Nos. 55, 59, 62, 64, 66, B&e also ComUnity v.
Bank of New YorkC-12-771 EMC, Docket No. 8. Because the Court concludes that it lacks s
matter jurisdiction over these actions, it is without power to consider Defendants’ motions as
issue not incorporated into the above jurisdictional analysis.
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In the fall of 2007, CLI began negotiations to create the Micro 1 Security with
Terwin/Winter Groug. Id.  18. The Security was to be offered to investors containing 144

mortgages owned by CLI, and Winter Group was to have a repurchase option to buy the mor

tgac

at a later date for 90% of their face valud. 1 18, 21. CLI contributed the mortgages in excha[\ge
n

for a Class B-2 interest, Defendant Oseberg contributed $8.5 million for the senior Class A i
and Plaintiff GTrust contributed $1.25 milh for the mezzanine Class B-1 interdsk. § 19.
Oseberg and GTrust’s contributions were to be used to pay off the debt on the CLI mortgage
to other lendersid. The closing date was set for September 27, 2607 20.

CLI and GTrust contributed their signature pages, mortgages, and $1.25 million as of
closing date.ld. 11 19-22. Defendant Oseberg also contributed its share of the money by the
date. Id. 1 19. CLI, GTrust, and Oseberg received their certificates of security from the Dewe
Teandt in exchange on September 28, 2008.9 40. GTrust received regular reports and payme
for at least some period of time from BNYM, purportedly in its capacity as Administrator of thg

Micro 1 Security.ld. 11 42, 47, Ex. 1 (listing BNYM as Security Administrat@ge alsdocket

ere

he
Clos

y

nts

U

No. 89, Ex. 6 (Trust Agreement) (listing BNYM Bkster Servicer, Backup Servicer, and Securities

Administrator).

However, Plaintiffs allege that Micro 1 newdosed and the contract never formed. Inste

Plaintiffs allege that after sending in their assets and signature pages, the Winter Group atter’npte
r

unilaterally modify the contract to provide for a repurchase price of 72.06%, instead of the ag
upon 90%.Id.  22. The Winter Group further attempted to change the contract on Decembe
2007, to 27.94%Id. The Dewey Team allegedly aided the Winter Group in these attempted

unilateral changes by incorporating them into the contract documents and attaching signaturg
to those documents on January 22, 20@8. Plaintiffs construe these attempted changes as coy
offers, to which CLI and GTrust never assentltl. Thus, Plaintiffs allege these attempted chan

killed the contract formation proceskl.

2 Plaintiffs include SLS within the Winter Group, because they allege that SLS was a
Group entity. Compl. 17 11, 17.

® Dewey Team refers to Dewey and the attorney-defendants in this action who were
attorneys at Dewey during the time in question, DiAngelo and Bargoz.
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Plaintiffs further allege that Defendantsudalently conducted themselves as if the contr:
had formed, even though it had not. They allege that Defendants Winter Group and Dewey (
a fraudulent closing date of January 22, 2008, oiclwtihey created false closing binders which
attached signature pages to the altered contract and mis-represented that it had closed on S
27, 2007.1d. 11 22-23. They claim that all Defendants except MERS patrticipated in this fraug
closing date and received the fraudulent closing binddrg]y 28, 32. Each of these Defendants
besides MERS has allegedly misrepresentdldamtiffs that a contract had formettl. § 41.

In April 2008, Defendants Winter Group and Dewey Team attempted to exercise their
fraudulent repurchase price through the Winter Group’s purported entity ISL] 25, 28, 30.
BNYM sent a Notice of Termination of the Trust on April 15, 2008, informing Plaintiffs that SU
would exercise the repurchase option on April 25, 2088 31, Ex. 1. CLI's bankruptcy counse
immediately protested and sent an April 2808 letter to Defendants Dewey, BNYM, and SLS,
with a Notice of Automatic Stay pursuant to CLI's pending bankruptcy petitchrEx. 3. In the
letter, CLI's counsel disputed the repurchase price and stated that CLI had never agreed to 3
except a 90% priceld. It stated that any changes were unilateral and unapproved bydCiak 1-

2.

On April 24, 2008, the Trustee revoked the Notice of TerminationEx. 4. No repurchasg

option was ever executed by any Defendant or other plattyl{ 35, 45 (describing repurchase a

“attempted”). Thereafter, Plaintiffs allegeatithe Winter Group, MERS, the Dewey Team, and $

worked together to liquidate and “waste” the mortgage assets via foreclosing on 132 of the 11
mortgages.ld. 1 35, 60-61. Because the contract never formed, according to Plaintiffs, thos
mortgages remained assets of CLI and the bankruptcy ektafe57. In addition, BNYM has
never returned GTrust’s $1.25 million, even though it purportedly knows no contract has fornj
even though GTrust has demanded its retioing 34.

As for the remaining Defendants, Defendd@fitmington signed the Micro 1 contracts
intending to be a trusteed. 1 48. Wilmington allegedly never informed CLI or GTrust that the
contract never formed, and mismanaged their assets by failing to return them to the rightful g

Id. Defendant Deutsche engaged in the seoneluct and also signed the Micro 1 contracts
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intending to be a trusteed. 1 49. Defendant Oseberg failed to forward any assets it received
pursuant to its participation in the fraudulent contract to CLI and GTrais¥ 50.

Based on the above allegations, Plaintiffs dsdaims for fraud, breach of fiduciary duty,
willful violation of the automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. 8§ 362(k), and conspiracy. They seek &
permanent injunction preventing Defendants flamidating, distributing, or controlling CLI's
mortgage assets and proceeds; an order eltingpDefendants SLS, BNYM, MERS, and Oseber
to transfer any remaining mortgage assets@oceeds to Collectors; disgorgement of sums
received from participating in the Micro 1 Seityr$10 million to Plaintiff Fry in damages for the
loss of his company, CLI; $1.25 million to Plaintiff GTrust in damages for her payment into th
Security; $17,776,852 to Plaintiff Collectors in lost mortgages; punitive damages; fees anthicq
19 71-78. The Bankruptcy Trustee did not pursuyecdaim for violation of the automatic stay.

. DISCUSSION

A. Automatic Stay - Defendant Dewey

Before addressing the parties’ motions, @@irt must first address Defendant Dewey’s
Notice of Automatic Stay. On June 4, 2012, Defendant Dewey filed a Notice of Commencem
Chapter 11 Case and Stay of Actions Pursua8etdion 362 of the Bankruptcy Code. Docket N
103. As Dewey’s Notice explains, under 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) the automatic stay “prevents all
from, inter alia, commencing or continuing any pre-petition litigation, taking any action to obtg
possession or control over property of the Debtor’s estates, or taking any action to enforce ol
a judgment.” Docket No. 103 at 1. The Court issued an order asking the parties to brief whe
pursuant to the automatic stay, the Court had authority to enter an order adjudicating the par
motions to dismiss. Docket No. 165.

The Ninth Circuit has established that a district court has jurisdiction to determine whe
an automatic stay applies to its proceedingse Lockyer v. Mirant Corp398 F.3d 1098, 1113 (9t
Cir. 2005);see also Dominic’s Rest. of Dayton, Inc. v. Mgré&8 F.3d 757, 760 (6th Cir. 2012).

Although an automatic stay broadly applies to “the commencement or continuation” of judicia]

* The Court declines to order any additionaéfing as requested by Plaintiffs and therefa
DENIES their motion for administrative relieMot. for Administrative Relief and for a New
Briefing Order, Docket No. 111.
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proceedings, this Court must interpret 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) to ensure that its application will ng
“produce a result ‘demonstrably at odds with the intention of its draft&ee”Clark v. Capital
Credit & Collection Services, Inc460 F.3d 1162, 1169 (9th Cir. 2006) (citimge Been,153 F.3d
1034, 1036 (9th Cir. 1998)). That intention has been defined as (1) protecting a debtor from
creditors and alleviating “the financial pressures that drove him into bankruptcy” and (2) protg
creditors to ensure equitable payment of claims from a deS&®.Independent Union of Flight
Attendants v. Pan American World Airways, Ji®66 F.2d 457, 459 (9th Cir. 1992JUFA”").

In IUFA, for example, the Ninth Circuit held that where no statutory purpose is served

applying an automatic stay pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362(a), a court may properly dismiss the

underlying action.lUFA, 966 F.2d at 450 T]he application or non-application of § 362(a) to the

dismissal of an action pending against a debtor should be made consistent with the purpose
statute.”). Thus, in that case, the court determined it could properly dismiss the action based
mootness where IUFA had “withdrawn the grievamtech it sought to compel Pan Am [the debt
to arbitrate by this action.Id. at 458.

In Dean v. Trans World Airlines, Inc72 F.3d 754, 756-57 (9th Cir. 1995), the Ninth Circ
clarified its holding inUFA and found that dismissal does not violate an automatic stay only if
“there was no conceivable way” for the court’s consideration of the motion to harm the debto
action. Importantly, th®eancourt limitedlUFA’s holding to cases in which not only tefectof
considering the motiore(g, dismissing an action against the debtor), but alsodhsideratiorof
the motion, would not involve the merits of the underlying c&ee idat 756 (“[T]helUFA

exception must be a narrow one that cannot apply where a decision to dismiss requires a cot
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first decide any other issues presented by or related to the underlying case.”). Thus, “post-filing

dismissal in favor of the bankrupt of an actioattfalls within the purview of the automatic stay

violates the stay where the decision to dismiss first requires the court to consider other issue
presented by or related to the underlying case. In other words, thinking about the issues viola
stay.” Id. In Dean the court found that a district court order considering a party’s motion to di

violated the automatic stay because it “required the court to decide whether the law-of-the-c3
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precluded finding TWA liable to Dean” and therefareuld require the “court to first decide . . .

issues presented by or related to the underlying cade.”

In the instant case, while some of Defendants’ motions to dismiss would likely run afoyil of

the automatic stay, here Defendant Oseberg’s motion to dismiss demonstrates that the Cour
subject matter jurisdiction over this action becauger alia, Plaintiffs lack standing to pursue
claims under 11 U.S.C. § 362. Because considering this motion does not implicate the unde
issues or merits of this action, the automatic stay does not aéppé/Dean72 F.3d at 756-57
(motion to dismiss that “merely asked the court to recognize that IUFA no longer wished to lit
.. did not violate the automatic stay because, at the time of IUFA’s motion, it was clear there
conceivable way for the court’s consideration of the motion to harm the bankrupt Pansem®.”);
also Lindley Contours, LLC v. AABB Fitness Holdings,, lat4 F. App’x 62, 63 (9th Cir. 2011)
(“[B]ecause we find that subject matter jurisdiction is lacking and do not reach the merits of
Appellant’s claims, we need not retain jurisdiction over Mr. Cooper pursuant to the automatic
provision of § 362.”) (citinddean 72 F.3d at 756)vans v. AndersqiC 09-5227 MHP, 2010 WL
118398, at *1 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 7, 2010) (“[W]here the district court lacks jurisdiction over the a
filed before it the court is not without power to remand the action and the stay does not depri
that power.”) (citingCounty of Cook v. Mellon Stuart C812 F. Supp. 793, 798 n. 3 (N.D. IIl.
1992));MTGLQ Investors, L.P. v. Guir@86 F. Supp. 2d 561, 563-64 (D. Md. 2003) (“[D]ismiss

or transferring the case on jurisdictional grounds does not constitute a prohibited ‘continuation

the action under 8§ 362.”) (collecting district court cases outside the Ninth Circuit).
B. Jurisdiction

First, Defendant Oseberg argues that this Court lacks jurisdiction over this action and
requests dismissal under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1). Defendant argues that di
jurisdiction is lacking and that the Court lacks federal question jurisdiction over their only fede
claim under the Bankruptcy Code because theme jsrivate right of action outside of the
Bankruptcy Court, and because Pldis lack standing under the statute.
7
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1. Legal Standard

A motion to dismiss is proper under Rule 12(b)(1) when the Complaint fails to allege
grounds for federal subject matter jurisdictioragslaintiff lacks standing to bring a claifdvarren
v. Fox Family Worldwide, Inc328 F.3d 1136, 1139 (9th Cir. 2003). Although the defendant m
be the moving party on a 12(b)(1) motion, “plaintiff bears the burden of establishing federal s
matter jurisdiction.” CAL. PRAC. GUIDE: FED. CIV. PROC. BEFORE TRIAL, 1 9:77.10 (The
Rutter Group 2011) (hereinafter “Rutter”). “Becassanding and ripeness pertain to federal coJ
subject matter jurisdiction, they are properly raised [Federal] Rule [of Civil Procedure] 12(b)(1
motion to dismiss.”"Chandler v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. (808 F.3d 1115, 1121-22 (9th Cir.
2010).

2. Diversity Jurisdiction

Defendant Oseberg argues that there is no diversity jurisdiction because Plaintiffs and
Defendant Dewey are both citizens of California. Docket No. 59%thhabel v. Lyi302 F.3d
1023, 1030 (9th Cir. 2002) (“[A] partnership is azatn of every state of which its partners are
citizens.”) (citingCarden v. Arkoma Asso¢d94 U.S. 185, 195 (1990)). Plaintiffs do not respon
to these arguments, and do not contest the assertion that diversity jurisdiction is not present.
Therefore, the Court cannot rely on diversity jurisdiction.

3. Federal Question Jurisdiction

The only basis for federal question jurisdiction is Plaintiffs’ claim that Defendants violal
the automatic stay imposed by CLI's bankruptcy proceeding. 11 U.S.C. 8 362(k) (“[A]n indivi
injured by any willful violation of a stay provided by this section shall recover actual damages
including costs and attorneys’ fees, and, in appropriate circumstances, may recover punitive
damages.”). Defendants raise a number of challenges to this claim: (1) the need for Plaintiffg
bring the claim in bankruptcy court rather than fadldistrict court; (2) lack of standing; and (3)
failure to state a claim. Pursuantlean this Court may not consider the third argument as to

Plaintiffs’ failure to state a claim under 8 362 bes=mto do so would “require[] the court to first

[@N

ay
Libje

rts

N

ted

Hual

to

consider other issues presented by or related to the underlying case,” including whether a contra
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formed between the parties, including Defendant DewBgan 72 F.3d at 755ee also Lewis v.

Russell CIV.S-03-2646WBSKJM, 2009 WL 1260290, at *2 (E.D. Cal. May 7, 2009) (staying actiol

as against all defendants where “[b]ecause of the nature of the claims . . . it is not possible tg
meaningful distinction between claims asserted against the Suhs and all other claims”). How
Defendant’s first two arguments are sufficient to convince the Court that it lacks subject mattg
jurisdiction.

a. Ability to Bring Claim in Federal District Court

First, Defendants argue in the alternative that this claim cannot be brought outside of
bankruptcy court. Specifically, Defendant Oselangues that there is no private right of action
outside the bankruptcy court to pursue a claim for violation of the automatic stay. One distrig

has held, “While § 362(Rarguably creates private right of action for willful violation of automat

dra
eve

48

t col

ic

stay, [citation], 11 U.S.C. 88 362 does not createvafar cause of action outside of the Bankruptcy

Court for violations of automatic stay. [Citation].”) (citiRepttitt v. Baker876 F.2d 456 (5th
Cir.1989);Dashner v. Cate65 B.R. 492 (N.D. lowa. 1986)5cott v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg.
Inc., 326 F. Supp. 2d 709, 719 (E.D. Va. 20a8)d sub nom. Scott v. Wells Fargo & C67 F.
App’x 238 (4th Cir. 2003). The Ninth Circuit similarly heldMSR Exploration, Ltd. v. Meridian
Qil, Inc. that a plaintiff's state law claims for violati of the automatic stay were entirely preemp
by the Bankruptcy Code and were thus federal claims, but that such claims must be brought
bankruptcy court. 74 F.3d 910, 916 (9th Cir. 1996). The court noted, “MSR’s malicious
prosecution action against the Producers is completely preempted by the structure and purpq
Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, MSR’s purported actiostiia fact, be a federal claim. That clain
however, should have been brought in the bankruptcy court itself, and not as a separate acti

district court. Thus, the district court properly determined that it lagkesdliction to hear the

®> Although Dewey had argued in its motion terdiss that Plaintiffs did not assert their
automatic stay claim against DewegeDocket No. 66 at 1 n.3, Plaintiffs’ opposition makes it cl
that they intended to assert said claim against Dese=jpocket No. 85 at 11. Thus, considering
whether Plaintiffs have failed to state a clainder 8 362 would implicate facts and claims relatg
to Dewey.

ted
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® Section 362(k) was formerly § 362(h). Therefore, a number of cases cited below refer tc

362(h), but the substantive provision is the same as that at issue in the instant case.
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matter.” Id. (emphasis addedSee E. Equip. & Services Corp. v. Factory Point Nat. Bank,
Bennington236 F.3d 117, 121 (2d Cir. 2001) (“[Plaintiffs] asgbat it also stated a federal claim
under 11 U.S.C. § 362(h), which allows for the recovery of compensatory and punitive damag
willful violations of the automatic stay. However, again, such a atairstbe brought in the
bankruptcy court, rather than in the district court, which only has appellate jurisdiction over
bankruptcy cases.”) (emphasis in original) (citinge Crysen/Montenay Energy C802 F.2d
1098, 1104 (2d Cir.1990MSR Exploration74 F.3d at 916).

However, the Seventh and Eleventh Circuits have held that the issue is not one of sul
matter jurisdiction, because Congress expressly granted district courts jurisdiction over bank

matters pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 133ke Justice Cometh, Ltd. v. Lampé@6 F.3d 1342, 1343

(11th Cir. 2005) (“Unquestionably, the district csumay ‘provide that any or all cases under title

11 and any or all proceedings arising under title 11’ be referred to the bankruptcy court for th

jes |

ject

rupt

h

At

district. 28 U.S.C. § 157(a). However, the explicit 8§ 1334 grant of original jurisdiction over Title

11 cases clearly forecloses a conclusion that the district court lacked subject matter jurisdicti
this case.”) (citing’rice v. Rochford947 F.2d 829, 832 n.1 (7th Cir. 1991)).

Regardless of wheth&SR Exploratiorcan be read to constrain this Court’s jurisdiction,
this District’s local rules and other out-of-circuit authority establish that the proper course of g
would be to refer this matter to the bankruptcy co8eeNorthern District General Order No. 24
(“This court hereby refers to the bankruptcy judges of this district all cases under title 11, and
proceedings arising under title 11 or arising in or related to cases under titléPtite)y. Rochford
947 F.2d 829, 832 n.1 (7th Cir. 1991) (noting that while the district court had jurisdiction, the
“should probably have been referred to the bankruptcy court under” the court’s local rules). T
court has authority to grant permissive (or in some cases, mandatory) withdrawal of a referer
the bankruptcy court, but such withdrawal is typically more suited to cases in which federal
guestions have been presented that are distinct from bankruptcy iSee28.U.S.C.A. § 157(d)
(providing that the district court can withdravease “for cause shown,” and must withdraw a ca
“if the court determines that resolution of the proceeding requires consideration of both title 1

other laws of the United States regulating organizations or activities affecting interstate comn
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see also In re Tamalpais Bancodbl B.R. 6, 10 (N.D. Cal. 2011) (“In determining whether cau

exists, a district court should consider the effitigse of judicial resources, delay and costs to the

parties, uniformity of bankruptcy administin, the prevention of forum shopping, and other
related factors.”) (citinggec. Farms v. Int'| Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffers, Warehousemen &
Helpers 124 F.3d 999, 1008 (9th Cir.1997).

In this case, were the litigation to continue, the Court would refer the matter to the
bankruptcy court in line with this District’s local rules. However, because, as discussed beloy
Plaintiffs lack standing to pursue this claim myacourt, thus depriving this Court of Article 1l
jurisdiction, the Court proceeds to consider this issue.

b. Standing

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs lack standing to pursue any claims under § 362(k) for
violations of the automatic stay. With resptcPlaintiffs Collectors and GTrust, Ninth Circuit
authority clearly forecloses them from asserting claims under § 362(k) because they are artif
entities, rather than individuals. llmre Goodmanthe Ninth Circuit held that only “natural, or
individual, debtors” are eligible for relief und®362(k), “not a corporation or other artificial
entity.” 991 F.2d 613, 619-20 (9th Cir. 1993). Because the plaintiff at issue in that case was
corporate creditor, the Ninth Circuit held thatldeked standing. Similarly, to the extent Plaintiff
attempt to bring this claim on behalf of CLI as debtor, rather than as creditors, they would stil

standing because CLI is a corporate entity and therefore could not assign an interest it does

Se

cial

a

V)

lac

not

have! Defendants do not present any authority to the contrary. Thus, the only Plaintiff potenially

eligible to assert a claim under § 362(k) is RIfifry, who is a prepetition creditor of CLI.
With respect to Plaintiff Fry, the Ninth Circuit has held that creditors lack standing to a
automatic stay claims abandoned by the trusteén e Pecan Groves of Arizon851 F.2d 242,

245 (9th Cir. 1991), the court reasoned, “Allowing unsecured creditors to pursue claims the ti

" Nor could Plaintiffs assert standing throwgty purported assigned interest of the trustg
because while the trustee has authority to enforce the automatic stay under other provisions
Code, the trustee has no private right of action for damages specifically under 8§ 3. re
Dyer, 322 F.3d 1178, 1190 (9th Cir. 2003) (“Congress chose to exclude the Trustee from the
of § 362[(k)]. The Trustee therefore has no atévright of action for damages resulting from
automatic stay violations.”).
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abandons could subvert the trustee’s powers. ... We therefore hold that a creditor has no
independent standing to appeal an adverse decmsgamding a violation of the automatic stay.” |
light of Pecan Grovesa bankruptcy court has noted, “The Ninth Circuit has held that Section 3
for the benefit of the debtor or the trustee. Thus, when the trustee fails to pursue enforcemef
automatic stay, no other party, including creditors, may challenge conduct or acts which violg
automatic stay.”In re Soll 181 B.R. 433, 443 (Bankr. D. Ariz. 1995), citiRgcan Groves951
F.2d at 245.See In re PopB23 B.R. 260, 267 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2005)Rfcan Grovdsules that
creditors have no standing to object to a violation of an automatic stay, because the automat

‘is intended solely to benefit the debtor estate.”). As the Bankruptcy Trustee has not pursue

claim for violation of the stayRecan Grovegrecludes Plaintiff Fry from prosecuting such a claim.

To be sure, a contrary view has been suggested in other Ninth Circuit caGssdiman
the Ninth Circuit commented — without citation to authority — that individual creditors, but not
corporate entities, could pursue claims under 8§ 362. 991 F.2d at 618-19. However, becauss
plaintiff at issue inGoodmarnwas a corporate creditor and therefore lacked standing, the Court
statement was not part of or crucial to its holdigge id(“Normally pre-petition creditors in
Johnston’s position shall recover damages undéf.$1C. 88 362(h) [now 362(k)] and 1109(b) fo
willful violations of the automatic stay. Johost however, is a corporate entity.”). Another mor
recent Ninth Circuit opinion repeated the statement fGmadman but again outside the scope of
its holding. See In re Dawsqr890 F.3d 1139, 1146 (9th Cir. 2004) (“[1]f a willful violation of the
automatic stay damages some portion of the hgky estate, both the debtor and an individual
creditor of the now less-valuable estate may recover actual damages.”) (making this stateme
rule section of an opinion that discussed only aat&btlaim for violations of the automatic stay)
(citing Goodman 991 F.2d at 618). Neith&oodmamor Dawsoncite toPecan Groves Their
dicta is not binding.

Some bankruptcy courts have also reached a contrary result. One court has attempte
distinguished®ecan Grovesn the basis that tHeecan GroveJrustee had abandoned the claim
opposed to simply not bringing a claim in the first place) andRbean Grovesmvolved a Chapter

7 bankruptcy as opposed to Chapter $&e In re Int’l Forex of California, Inc247 B.R. 284, 291
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(Bankr. S.D. Cal. 2000) (“[T]his Court reattsre Pecan Grovet® stand only for what it held — tha
where a chapter 7 trustee opts not to appeal an adverse ruling on an alleged stay violation,
intervening creditors may not do so. . . . [T]his Court finds that these Creditors have standing
pursue the alleged stay violation under § 362(h)S&e In re Lesigk3-00038, 2006 WL 2083655
at *5 (Bankr. D.D.C. July 19, 2006) (“[Plaintiffjas standing to seek to obtain a declaratory
judgment that the defendants’ actions taken in alleged violation of the automatic stay are voi(
The Court finds this authority unpersuasive.

This Court concludeBecan Grovess controlling on the issueP?ecan Grovesontains
unequivocal language disapproving of creditordlehging automatic stay violations. The only
difference between it and this case is tatan Grovesoncerned an appeal, rather than an initig
action. However, such a distinction is largely irrelevant in light of the Ninth Circuit’s rationale

Pecan Groveshat it would “subvert the trustee’s powéto “[a]llow[] unsecured creditors to

pursue claims the trustee abandori@écan Groves951 F.2d at 245. Indeed, the court’s rationale

in explaining its ruling is broad, as it states,

In previous cases, we have reserved the question of whether a creditor
can attack violations of the automatic sta@ames v. Washington Mut.
Sav. Bank (In re Brooks371 F.2d 89, 90 n. 1 (9th Cir.1989);

Magnoni v. Globe Inv. and Loan Co. (In re Globe Inv. and Loan, Co.)
867 F.2d 556, 559 (9th Cir.1989). While there is no precedent on
point in the Ninth Circuit, the majority of jurisdictions which have
considered standing under the automatic stay provision, 11 U.S.C. 8§
362, have concluded that section 362 is intended solely to benefit the
debtor estateéSee In re Globhe867 F.2d at 559 & n. 6 (citing cases).
Language from many cases indicates that, if the trustee does not seek
to enforce the protections of the automatic stay, no other party may
challenge acts purportedly in violation of the automatic stay.
Washington Mut. Sav. Bank v. James (In re Brqai&B.R. 479, 481
(Bankr. 9th Cir.1987)aff'd on other ground871 F.2d 89 (9th
Cir.1989);Bryce v. Stivers (In re Stiver§91 B.R. 735, 735
(Bankr.N.D.Cal.1983)Hadsell v. Philadelphia Life Ins. Co. (Inre

Fuel Oil Supply and Terminaling, Inc30 B.R. 360, 362
(Bankr.N.D.Tex.1983).

Id. Thus, théPecan Grovesourt did not rest its holding on the fact that the case involved an
appeal. In addition, unlike iRorex, which attempted to distinguistecan Groveshis is a Chapter
7 case just like ifPecan Groves

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintifisk standing to bring their 8 362(k) claim.
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IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the C@BRANTS Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’
claim under 8 362(k) claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Because the Court has disn
Plaintiffs’ only federal claim on jurisdictional grounds under 12(b)(1), it has no discretion to
exercise supplemental jurisdiction over any of Plaintiffs’ state law claims because “dismissal
postulates that there was never a valid federal claim. Exercise of jurisdiction . . . would there
violate Article IIl of the Constitution . . ."Herman Family Revocable Trust v. Teddy Bea# F.3d
802, 806 (9th Cir. 2001) (quotirgnited Mine Workers v. Gibb883 U.S. 715, 725 (19665ee
also Skysign Int'l, Inc. v. City & County of HonoluRi6 F.3d 1109, 1118 n.7 (9th Cir. 2002)
(“[H]ad Skysign lacked standing to bring its fedleclaim, the district court would have lacked
subject matter jurisdiction over that claim and accordingly would have had no discretion to hg
state law claims.”) (citingdermar); Gherini v. Lagomarsina258 F. App’x 81, 83-84 (9th Cir.
2007) (citingSkysignin the context of statutory standin@npublished). Accordingly, the Court
DISMISSES Plaintiffs’ remaining claims under stateMavithout prejudice. The Clerk is directed
to close the file.

This Order disposes of Docket Nos. 55, 59, 62, 64, 66, 73, 111.
IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: August 7, 2012

M

EDWARD M. CHEN
United States District Judge
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